Dear  students. There are two cases included in this document.  The first is a 1966 judgment of the Court of Justice called Consten and Grundig v. Commission.  The second is a 1977 judgment of the US Supreme Court called Sylvania. Please review them for the class on 28 October.  There are also two other pdf documents you should take a look at, Regulation 2790/1999 (the “Vertical Agreements Block Exemption”) and the Guidelines on Vertical Restraints.  It is okay to simply skim (dare un’occhiata a) the pdf documents, as they are rather technical. 

We will not be able to cover the whole subject of vertical agreements on 28 October, so there will still be a little bit to talk about on 4 November.  (We will talk about horizontal agreements on 4 November too.)

Note regarding the first case below, Consten and Grundig v. Commission.  In this case, Grundig, a German electronics manufacturer, appointed Consten to be its exclusive distributor in France.  That is a rather common means of distributing consumer goods such as stereos, turntables, tape recorders and other relics of the past.  As part of the deal, Grundig granted Consten the Grundig trademark to use in France.  This gave Consten the ability to sue third parties if they attempted to sell Grundig products on the French market, and indeed Consten did begin to sue third parties before the French courts to obtain an injunction ordering the third parties to stop importing those goods into France.  Furthermore, Grundig itself promised Consten that it would not sell its own products in France, and to put the cherry on the cake, Grundig promised that it would make sure that its wholesalers in Germany would not sell Grundig products in France and that distributors in other countries would likewise be prevented from selling Grundig products in France.  So Consten was the only game in town.  Let’s find out what the Court of Justice had to say about all this…      

Judgment of the Court of 13 July 1966. - Établissements Consten S.à.R.L. and Grundig-Verkaufs-GmbH v Commission of the European Economic Community. - Joined cases 56 and 58-64. 


Parties

IN JOINED CASES 56 AND 58/64 

56/64 - ETABLISSEMENTS CONSTEN SARL, HAVING ITS REGISTERED OFFICE AT COURBEVOIE ( SEINE ), REPRESENTED BY J . LASSIER, ADVOCATE AT THE COUR D' APPEL, PARIS, WITH AN ADDRESS FOR SERVICE IN LUXEMBOURG AT THE CHAMBERS OF J . WELTER, AVOCAT - AVOUE, 6 RUE WILLY-GOERGEN, 

58/64 - GRUNDIG-VERKAUFS-GMBH, HAVING ITS REGISTERED OFFICE AT FUERTH ( BAVARIA ), REPRESENTED BY ITS MANAGING DIRECTOR, MAX GRUNDIG, ASSISTED BY H . HELLMANN AND K . PFEIFFER, OF THE COLOGNE BAR, WITH AN ADDRESS FOR SERVICE IN LUXEMBOURG AT THE CHAMBERS OF A . NEYENS, AVOCAT-AVOUE, 9 RUE DES GLACIS, 

APPLICANTS, 

SUPPORTED BY 

THE GOVERNMENT OF THE ITALIAN REPUBLIC, REPRESENTED BY A . MARESCA, MINISTER PLENIPOTENTIARY AND ASSISTANT HEAD OF THE LEGAL DEPARTMENT OF THE MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS, ACTING AS AGENT, ASSISTED BY P . PERONACI, DEPUTY ADVOCATE-GENERAL OF THE STATE, WITH AN ADDRESS FOR SERVICE IN LUXEMBOURG AT THE ITALIAN EMBASSY, 5 RUE MARIE-ADELAIDE, 

INTERVENER IN CASES 56/64 AND 58/64, 

THE GOVERNMENT OF THE FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF GERMANY, REPRESENTED BY U . EVERLING, MINISTERIALRAT, AND H . PETERS, REGIERUNGSRAT, WITH AN ADDRESS FOR SERVICE IN LUXEMBOURG AT THE CHANCERY OF THE EMBASSY OF THE FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF GERMANY, 3 BOULEVARD ROYAL, 

INTERVENER IN CASE 58/64, 

V 

COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN ECONOMIC COMMUNITY, REPRESENTED BY ITS LEGAL ADVISERS, G . LE TALLEC ( CASE 56/64 ) AND J . THIESING ( CASE 58/64 ), ACTING AS AGENTS, WITH AN ADDRESS FOR SERVICE IN LUXEMBOURG AT THE SECRETARIAT OF THE LEGAL DEPARTMENT OF THE EUROPEAN EXECUTIVES, 2 PLACE DE METZ, 

DEFENDANT, 

SUPPORTED BY 

FIRMA WILLY LEISSNER, HAVING ITS REGISTERED OFFICE IN STRASBOURG, REPRESENTED BY C . LAPP, OF THE STRASBOURG BAR, WITH AN ADDRESS FOR SERVICE IN LUXEMBOURG AT THE CHAMBERS OF H . GLAESENER, NOTARY, 20 RUE GLESENER, 

UNEF, A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY GOVERNED BY FRENCH LAW HAVING ITS REGISTERED OFFICE IN PARIS, REPRESENTED BY R . COLLIN, ADVOCATE OF THE COUR D' APPEL, PARIS, AND BY P.A . FRANCK, ADVOCATE OF THE COUR D' APPEL, BRUSSELS, WITH AN ADDRESS FOR SERVICE IN LUXEMBOURG AT THE CHAMBERS OF E . ARENDT, AVOCAT-AVOUE, 6 RUE WILLY - GOERGEN, 

INTERVENERS, 

Subject of the case

APPLICATION FOR ANNULMENT OF THE DECISION OF THE COMMISSION OF 23 SEPTEMBER 1964 UNDER ARTICLE 85 OF THE TREATY ( IV/A-00004-03344 ' GRUNDIG - CONSTEN '); 

Grounds

THE COMPLAINTS CONCERNING THE APPLICABILITY OF ARTICLE 85(1 ) TO SOLE DISTRIBUTORSHIP CONTRACTS 

THE APPLICANTS SUBMIT THAT THE PROHIBITION IN ARTICLE 85(1 ) APPLIES ONLY TO SO-CALLED HORIZONTAL AGREEMENTS . THE ITALIAN GOVERNMENT SUBMITS FURTHERMORE THAT SOLE DISTRIBUTORSHIP CONTRACTS DO NOT CONSTITUTE ' AGREEMENTS BETWEEN UNDERTAKINGS ' WITHIN THE MEANING OF THAT PROVISION, SINCE THE PARTIES ARE NOT ON A FOOTING OF EQUALITY . WITH REGARD TO THESE CONTRACTS, FREEDOM OF COMPETITION MAY ONLY BE PROTECTED BY VIRTUE OF ARTICLE 86 OF THE TREATY . 

NEITHER THE WORDING OF ARTICLE 85 NOR THAT OF ARTICLE 86 GIVES ANY GROUND FOR HOLDING THAT DISTINCT AREAS OF APPLICATION ARE TO BE ASSIGNED TO EACH OF THE TWO ARTICLES ACCORDING TO THE LEVEL IN THE ECONOMY AT WHICH THE CONTRACTING PARTIES OPERATE . ARTICLE 85 REFERS IN A GENERAL WAY TO ALL AGREEMENTS WHICH DISTORT COMPETITION WITHIN THE COMMON MARKET AND DOES NOT LAY DOWN ANY DISTINCTION BETWEEN THOSE AGREEMENTS BASED ON WHETHER THEY ARE MADE BETWEEN COMPETITORS OPERATING AT THE SAME LEVEL IN THE ECONOMIC PROCESS OR BETWEEN NON-COMPETING PERSONS OPERATING AT DIFFERENT LEVELS . IN PRINCIPLE, NO DISTINCTION CAN BE MADE WHERE THE TREATY DOES NOT MAKE ANY DISTINCTION . 

FURTHERMORE, THE POSSIBLE APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 85 TO A SOLE DISTRIBUTORSHIP CONTRACT CANNOT BE EXCLUDED MERELY BECAUSE THE GRANTOR AND THE CONCESSIONNAIRE ARE NOT COMPETITORS INTER SE AND NOT ON A FOOTING OF EQUALITY . COMPETITION MAY BE DISTORTED WITHIN THE MEANING OF ARTICLE 85(1 ) NOT ONLY BY AGREEMENTS WHICH LIMIT IT AS BETWEEN THE PARTIES, BUT ALSO BY AGREEMENTS WHICH PREVENT OR RESTRICT THE COMPETITION WHICH MIGHT TAKE PLACE BETWEEN ONE OF THEM AND THIRD PARTIES . FOR THIS PURPOSE, IT IS IRRELEVANT WHETHER THE PARTIES TO THE AGREEMENT ARE OR ARE NOT ON A FOOTING OF EQUALITY AS REGARDS THEIR POSITION AND FUNCTION IN THE ECONOMY . THIS APPLIES ALL THE MORE, SINCE, BY SUCH AN AGREEMENT, THE PARTIES MIGHT SEEK, BY PREVENTING OR LIMITING THE COMPETITION OF THIRD PARTIES IN RESPECT OF THE PRODUCTS, TO CREATE OR GUARANTEE FOR THEIR BENEFIT AN UNJUSTIFIED ADVANTAGE AT THE EXPENSE OF THE CONSUMER OR USER, CONTRARY TO THE GENERAL AIMS OF ARTICLE 85 . 

IT IS THUS POSSIBLE THAT, WITHOUT INVOLVING AN ABUSE OF A DOMINANT POSITION, AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN ECONOMIC OPERATORS AT DIFFERENT LEVELS MAY AFFECT TRADE BETWEEN MEMBER STATES AND AT THE SAME TIME HAVE AS ITS OBJECT OR EFFECT THE PREVENTION, RESTRICTION OR DISTORTION OF COMPETITION, THUS FALLING UNDER THE PROHIBITION OF ARTICLE 85(1 ). 
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IN ADDITION, IT IS POINTLESS TO COMPARE ON THE ONE HAND THE SITUATION, TO WHICH ARTICLE 85 APPLIES, OF A PRODUCER BOUND BY A SOLE DISTRIBUTORSHIP AGREEMENT TO THE DISTRIBUTOR OF HIS PRODUCTS WITH ON THE OTHER HAND THAT OF A PRODUCER WHO INCLUDES WITHIN HIS UNDERTAKING THE DISTRIBUTION OF HIS OWN PRODUCTS BY SOME MEANS, FOR EXAMPLE, BY COMMERCIAL REPRESENTATIVES, TO WHICH ARTICLE 85 DOES NOT APPLY . THESE SITUATIONS ARE DISTINCT IN LAW AND, MOREOVER, NEED TO BE ASSESSED DIFFERENTLY, SINCE TWO MARKETING ORGANIZATIONS, ONE OF WHICH IS UNTEGRATED INTO THE MANUFACTURER'S UNDERTAKING WHILST THE OTHER IS NOT, MAY NOT NECESSARILY HAVE THE SAME EFFICIENCY . THE WORDING OF ARTICLE 85 CAUSES THE PROHIBITION TO APPLY, PROVIDED THAT THE OTHER CONDITIONS ARE MET, TO AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN SEVERAL UNDERTAKINGS . THUS IT DOES NOT APPLY WHERE A SOLE UNDERTAKING INTEGRATES ITS OWN DISTRIBUTION NETWORK INTO ITS BUSINESS ORGANIZATION . IT DOES NOT THEREBY FOLLOW, HOWEVER, THAT THE CONTRACTUAL SITUATION BASED ON AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN A MANUFACTURING AND A DISTRIBUTING UNDERTAKING IS RENDERED LEGALLY ACCEPTABLE BY A SIMPLE PROCESS OF ECONOMIC ANALOGY - WHICH IS IN ANY CASE INCOMPLETE AND IN CONTRADICTION WITH THE SAID ARTICLE . FURTHERMORE, ALTHOUGH IN THE FIRST CASE THE TREATY INTENDED IN ARTICLE 85 TO LEAVE UNTOUCHED THE INTERNAL ORGANIZATION OF AN UNDERTAKING AND TO RENDER IT LIABLE TO BE CALLED IN QUESTION, BY MEANS OF ARTICLE 86, ONLY IN CASES WHERE IT REACHES SUCH A DEGREE OF SERIOUSNESS AS TO AMOUNT TO AN ABUSE OF A DOMINANT POSITION, THE SAME RESERVATION COULD NOT APPLY WHEN THE IMPEDIMENTS TO COMPETITION RESULT FROM AGREEMENT BETWEEN TWO DIFFERENT UNDERTAKINGS WHICH THEN AS A GENERAL RULE SIMPLY REQUIRE TO BE PROHIBITED . 

FINALLY, AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN PRODUCER AND DISTRIBUTOR WHICH MIGHT TEND TO RESTORE THE NATIONAL DIVISIONS IN TRADE BETWEEN MEMBER STATES MIGHT BE SUCH AS TO FRUSTRATE THE MOST FUNDAMENTAL OBJECTIONS OF THE COMMUNITY . THE TREATY, WHOSE PREAMBLE AND CONTENT AIM AT ABOLISHING THE BARRIERS BETWEEN STATES, AND WHICH IN SEVERAL PROVISIONS GIVES EVIDENCE OF A STERN ATTITUDE WITH REGARD TO THEIR REAPPEARANCE, COULD NOT ALLOW UNDERTAKINGS TO RECONSTRUCT SUCH BARRIERS . ARTICLE 85(1 ) IS DESIGNED TO PURSUE THIS AIM, EVEN IN THE CASE OF AGREEMENTS BETWEEN UNDERTAKINGS PLACED AT DIFFERENT LEVELS IN THE ECONOMIC PROCESS . 

THE SUBMISSIONS SET OUT ABOVE ARE CONSEQUENTLY UNFOUNDED . 

THE COMPLAINTS RELATING TO THE CONCEPT OF ' AGREEMENTS...WHICH MAY AFFECT TRADE BETWEEN MEMBER STATES ' 

THE APPLICANTS AND THE GERMAN GOVERNMENT MAINTAIN THAT THE COMMISSION HAS RELIED ON A MISTAKEN INTERPRETATION OF THE CONCEPT OF AN AGREEMENT WHICH MAY AFFECT TRADE BETWEEN MEMBER STATES AND HAS NOT SHOWN THAT SUCH TRADE WOULD HAVE BEEN GREATER WITHOUT THE AGREEMENT IN DISPUTE . 

THE DEFENDANT REPLIES THAT THIS REQUIREMENT IN ARTICLE 85(1 ) IS FULFILLED ONCE TRADE BETWEEN MEMBER STATES DEVELOPS, AS A RESULT OF THE AGREEMENT, DIFFERENTLY FROM THE WAY IN WHICH IT WOULD HAVE DONE WITHOUT THE RESTRICTION RESULTING FROM THE AGREEMENT, AND ONCE THE INFLUENCE OF THE AGREEMENT ON MARKET CONDITIONS REACHES A CERTAIN DEGREE . SUCH IS THE CASE HERE, ACCORDING TO THE DEFENDANT, PARTICULARLY IN VIEW OF THE IMPEDIMENTS RESULTING WITHIN THE COMMON MARKET FROM THE DISPUTED AGREEMENT AS REGARDS THE EXPORTING AND IMPORTING OF GRUNDIG PRODUCTS TO AND FROM FRANCE . 

THE CONCEPT OF AN AGREEMENT ' WHICH MAY AFFECT TRADE BETWEEN MEMBER STATES ' IS INTENDED TO DEFINE, IN THE LAW GOVERNING CARTELS, THE BOUNDARY BETWEEN THE AREAS RESPECTIVELY COVERED BY COMMUNITY LAW AND NATIONAL LAW . IT IS ONLY TO THE EXTENT TO WHICH THE AGREEMENT MAY AFFECT TRADE BETWEEN MEMBER STATES THAT THE DETERIORATION IN COMPETITION CAUSED BY THE AGREEMENT FALLS UNDER THE PROHIBITION OF COMMUNITY LAW CONTAINED IN ARTICLE 85; OTHERWISE IT ESCAPES THE PROHIBITION . 

IN THIS CONNEXION, WHAT IS PARTICULARLY IMPORTANT IS WHETHER THE AGREEMENT IS CAPABLE OF CONSTITUTING A THREAT, EITHER DIRECT OR INDIRECT, ACTUAL OR POTENTIAL, TO FREEDOM OF TRADE BETWEEN MEMBER STATES IN A MANNER WHICH MIGHT HARM THE ATTAINMENT OF THE OBJECTIVES OF A SINGLE MARKET BETWEEN STATES . THUS THE FACT THAT AN AGREEMENT ENCOURAGES AN INCREASE, EVEN A LARGE ONE, IN THE VOLUME OF TRADE BETWEEN STATES IS NOT SUFFICIENT TO EXCLUDE THE POSSIBILITY THAT THE AGREEMENT MAY ' AFFECT ' SUCH TRADE IN THE ABOVEMENTIONED MANNER . IN THE PRESENT CASE, THE CONTRACT BETWEEN GRUNDIG AND CONSTEN, ON THE ONE HAND BY PREVENTING UNDERTAKINGS OTHER THAN CONSTEN FROM IMPORTING GRUNDIG PRODUCTS INTO FRANCE, AND ON THE OTHER HAND BY PROHIBITING CONSTEN FROM RE-EXPORTING THOSE PRODUCTS TO OTHER COUNTRIES OF THE COMMON MARKET, INDISPUTABLY AFFECTS TRADE BETWEEN MEMBER STATES . THESE LIMITATIONS ON THE FREEDOM OF TRADE, AS WELL AS THOSE WHICH MIGHT ENSUE FOR THIRD PARTIES FROM THE REGISTRATION IN FRANCE BY CONSTEN OF THE GINT TRADE MARK, WHICH GRUNDIG PLACES ON ALL ITS PRODUCTS, ARE ENOUGHT TO SATISFY THE REQUIREMENT IN QUESTION . 
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CONSEQUENTLY, THE COMPLAINTS RAISED IN THIS RESPECT MUST BE DISMISSED . 

THE COMPLAINTS CONCERNING THE CRITERION OF RESTRICTION ON COMPETITION 

THE APPLICANTS AND THE GERMAN GOVERNMENT MAINTAIN THAT SINCE THE COMMISSION RESTRICTED ITS EXAMINATION SOLELY TO GRUNDIG PRODUCTS THE DECISION WAS BASED UPON A FALSE CONCEPT OF COMPETITION AND OF THE RULES ON PROHIBITION CONTAINED IN ARTICLE 85(1 ), SINCE THIS CONCEPT APPLIES PARTICULARLY TO COMPETITION BETWEEN SIMILAR PRODUCTS OF DIFFERENT MAKES; THE COMMISSION, BEFORE DECLARING ARTICLE 85(1 ) TO BE APPLICABLE, SHOULD, BY BASING ITSELF UPON THE ' RULE OF REASON ', HAVE CONSIDERED THE ECONOMIC EFFECTS OF THE DISPUTED CONTRAST UPON COMPETITION BETWEEN THE DIFFERENT MAKES . THERE IS A PRESUMPTION THAT VERTICAL SOLE DISTRIBUTORSHIP AGREEMENTS ARE NOT HARMFUL TO COMPETITION AND IN THE PRESENT CASE THERE IS NOTHING TO INVALIDATE THAT PRESUMPTION . ON THE CONTRARY, THE CONTRACT IN QUESTION HAS INCREASED THE COMPETITION BETWEEN SIMILAR PRODUCTS OF DIFFERENT MAKES . 

THE PRINCIPLE OF FREEDOM OF COMPETITION CONCERNS THE VARIOUS STAGES AND MANIFESTATIONS OF COMPETITION . ALTHOUGH COMPETITION BETWEEN PRODUCERS IS GENERALLY MORE NOTICEABLE THAN THAT BETWEEN DISTRIBUTORS OF PRODUCTS OF THE SAME MAKE, IT DOES NOT THEREBY FOLLOW THAT AN AGREEMENT TENDING TO RESTRICT THE LATTER KIND OF COMPETITION SHOULD ESCAPE THE PROHIBITION OF ARTICLE 85(1 ) MERELY BECAUSE IT MIGHT INCREASE THE FORMER . 

BESIDES, FOR THE PURPOSE OF APPLYING ARTICLE 85(1 ), THERE IS NO NEED TO TAKE ACCOUNT OF THE CONCRETE EFFECTS OF AN AGREEMENT ONCE IT APPEARS THAT IT HAS AS ITS OBJECT THE PREVENTION, RESTRICTION OR DISTORTION OF COMPETITION . 

THEREFORE THE ABSENCE IN THE CONTESTED DECISION OF ANY ANALYSIS OF THE EFFECTS OF THE AGREEMENT ON COMPETITION BETWEEN SIMILAR PRODUCTS OF DIFFERENT MAKES DOES NOT, OF ITSELF, CONSTITUTE A DEFECT IN THE DECISION . 

IT THUS REMAINS TO CONSIDER WHETHER THE CONTESTED DECISION WAS RIGHT IN FOUNDING THE PROHIBITION OF THE DISPUTED AGREEMENT UNDER ARTICLE 85(1 ) ON THE RESTRICTION ON COMPETITION CREATED BY GRUNDIG PRODUCTS ALONE . THE INFRINGEMENT WHICH WAS FOUND TO EXIST BY THE CONTESTED DECISION RESULTS FROM THE ABSOLUTE TERRITORIAL PROTECTION CREATED THE SAID CONTRACT IN FAVOUR OF CONSTEN ON THE BASIS OF FRENCH LAW . THE APPLICANTS THUS WISHED TO ELIMINATE ANY POSSIBILITY OF COMPETITION AT THE WHOLESALE LEVEL IN GRUNDIG PRODUCTS IN THE TERRITORY SPECIFIED IN THE CONTRAST ESSENTIALLY BY TWO METHODS . 
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FIRST, GRUNDIG UNDERTOOK NOT TO DELIVER EVEN INDIRECTLY TO THIRD PARTIES PRODUCTS INTENDED FOR THE AREA COVERED BY THE CONTRACT . THE RESTRICTIVE NATURE OF THAT UNDERTAKING IS OBVIOUS IF IT IS CONSIDERED IN THE LIGHT OF THE PROHIBITION ON EXPORTING WHICH WAS IMPOSED NOT ONLY ON CONSTEN BUT ALSO ON ALL THE OTHER SOLE CONCESSIONNAIRES OF GRUNDIG, AS WELL AS THE GERMAN WHOLESALERS . SECONDLY, THE REGISTRATION IN FRANCE BY CONSTEN OF THE GINT TRADE MARK, WHICH GRUNDIG AFFIXES TO ALL ITS PRODUCTS, IS INTENDED TO INCREASE THE PROTECTION INHERENT IN THE DISPUTED AGREEMENT, AGAINST THE RISK OF PARALLEL IMPORTS INTO FRANCE OF GRUNDIG PRODUCTS, BY ADDING THE PROTECTION DERIVING FROM THE LAW ON INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY RIGHTS . THUS NO THIRD PARTY COULD IMPORT GRUNDIG PRODUCTS FROM OTHER MEMBER STATES OF THE COMMUNITY FOR RESALE IN FRANCE WITHOUT RUNNING SERIOUS RISKS . 

THE DEFENDANT PROPERLY TOOK INTO ACCOUNT THE WHOLE DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM THUS SET UP BY GRUNDIG . IN ORDER TO ARRIVE AT A TRUE REPRESENTATION OF THE CONTRACTUAL POSITION THE CONTRACT MUST BE PLACED IN THE ECONOMIC AND LEGAL CONTEXT IN THE LIGHT OF WHICH IT WAS CONCLUDED BY THE PARTIES . SUCH A PROCEDURE IS NOT TO BE REGARDED AS AN UNWARRANTABLE INTERFERENCE IN LEGAL TRANSACTIONS OR CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH WERE NOT THE SUBJECT OF THE PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE COMMISSION . 

THE SITUATION AS ASCERTAINED ABOVE RESULTS IN THE ISOLATION OF THE FRENCH MARKET AND MAKES IT POSSIBLE TO CHARGE FOR THE PRODUCTS IN QUESTION PRICES WHICH ARE SHELTERED FROM ALL EFFECTIVE COMPETITION . IN ADDITION, THE MORE PRODUCERS SUCCEED IN THEIR EFFORTS TO RENDER THEIR OWN MAKES OF PRODUCT INDIVIDUALLY DISTINCT IN THE EYES OF THE CONSUMER, THE MORE THE EFFECTIVENESS OF COMPETITION BETWEEN PRODUCERS TENDS TO DIMINISH . BECAUSE OF THE CONSIDERABLE IMPACT OF DISTRIBUTION COSTS ON THE AGGREGATE COST PRICE, IT SEEMS IMPORTANT THAT COMPETITION BETWEEN DEALERS SHOULD ALSO BE STIMULATED . THE EFFORTS OF THE DEALER ARE STIMULATED BY COMPETITION BETWEEN DISTRIBUTORS OF PRODUCTS OF THE SAME MAKE . SINCE THE AGREEMENT THUS AIMS AT ISOLATING THE FRENCH MARKET FOR GRUNDIG PRODUCTS AND MAINTAINING ARTIFICIALLY, FOR PRODUCTS OF A VERY WELL-KNOWN BRAND, SEPARATE NATIONAL MARKETS WITHIN THE COMMUNITY, IT IS THEREFORE SUCH AS TO DISTORT COMPETITION IN THE COMMON MARKET . 

IT WAS THEREFORE PROPER FOR THE CONTESTED DECISION TO HOLD THAT THE AGREEMENT CONSTITUTES AN INFRINGEMENT OF ARTICLE 85(1 ). NO FURTHER CONSIDERATIONS, WHETHER OF ECONOMIC DATA ( PRICE DIFFERENCES BETWEEN FRANCE AND GERMANY, REPRESENTATIVE CHARACTER OF THE TYPE OF APPLIANCE CONSIDERED, LEVEL OF OVERHEADS BORNE BY CONSTEN ) OR OF THE CORRECTIONS OF THE CRITERIA UPON WHICH THE COMMISSION RELIED IN ITS COMPARISONS BETWEEN THE SITUATIONS OF THE FRENCH AND GERMAN MARKETS, AND NO POSSIBLE FAVOURABLE EFFECTS OF THE AGREEMENT IN OTHER RESPECTS, CAN IN ANY WAY LEAD, IN THE FACE OF THE ABOVEMENTIONED RESTRICTIONS, TO A DIFFERENT SOLUTION UNDER ARTICLE 85(1 ). 

Decision on costs

UNDER ARTICLE 69(3 ) OF ITS RULES OF PROCEDURE, WHERE EACH PARTY SUCCEEDS ON SOME AND FAILS ON OTHER HEADS THE COURT MAY ORDER THAT THE PARTIES BEAR THEIR OWN COSTS IN WHOLE OR IN PART . SUCH IS THE CASE IN THE PRESENT INSTANCE . 

U.S. Supreme Court

Continental T.V., Inc. v. GTE Sylvania, Inc., 433 U.S. 36 (1977)

Continental T.V., Inc. v. GTE Sylvania, Inc.

No. 76-15

Argued February 28, 1977

Decided June 23, 1977

433 U.S. 36

CERTIORARI TO THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT 
Syllabus 
In an attempt to improve its market position by attracting more aggressive and competent retailers, respondent manufacturer of television sets limited the number of retail franchises granted for any given area and required each franchisee to sell respondent's products only from the location or locations at which it was franchised. Petitioner Continental, one of respondent's franchised retailers, claimed that respondent had violated § 1 of the Sherman Act by entering into and enforcing franchise agreements that prohibited the sale of respondent's products other than from specified locations. The District Court rejected respondent's requested jury instruction that the location restriction was illegal only if it unreasonably restrained or suppressed competition. Instead, relying on United States v. Arnold, Schwinn & Co., 388 U. S. 365, the District Court instructed the jury that it was a per se violation of § 1 if respondent entered into a contract, combination, or conspiracy with one or more of its retailers, pursuant to which it attempted to restrict the locations from which the retailers resold the merchandise they had purchased from respondent. The jury found that the location restriction violated § 1, and treble damages were assessed against respondent. Concluding that Schwinn was distinguishable, the Court of Appeals reversed, holding that respondent's location restriction had less potential for competitive harm than the restrictions invalidated in Schwinn, and thus should be judged under the "rule of reason."

Held:
1. The statement of the per se rule in Schwinn is broad enough to cover the location restriction used by respondent. And the retail customer restriction in Schwinn is functionally indistinguishable from the location restriction here, the restrictions in both cases limiting the retailer's freedom to dispose of the purchased products and reducing, but not eliminating, intrabrand competition. Pp. 433 U. S. 42-47.

2. The justification and standard for the creation of per se rules was stated in Northern Pac. R. Co. v. United States, 356 U. S. 1, 356 U. S. 5:

"There are certain agreements or practices which, because of their pernicious effect on competition and lack of any redeeming virtue, are conclusively 
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presumed to be unreasonable, and therefore illegal without elaborate inquiry as to the precise harm they have caused or the business excuse for their use."

Under this standard, there is no justification for the distinction drawn in Schwinn between restrictions imposed in sale and nonsale transactions. Similarly, the facts of this case do not present a situation justifying a per se rule. Accordingly, the per se rule stated in Schwinn is overruled, and the location restriction used by respondent should be judged under the traditional rule of reason standard. Pp. 433 U. S. 47-59.

537 F.2d 980, affirmed.

POWELL, J., delivered the opinion of the Court, in which BURGER, C.J., and STEWART, BLACKMUN, and STEVENS, JJ., joined. WHITE, J., filed an opinion concurring in the judgment, post, p. 433 U. S. 59. BRENNAN, J., filed a dissenting statement, in which MARSHALL, J., joined, post, p. 433 U. S. 71. REHNQUIST, J., took no part in the consideration or decision of the case.

MR JUSTICE POWELL delivered the opinion of the Court.

Franchise agreements between manufacturers and retailers frequently include provisions barring the retailers from selling franchised products from locations other than those specified in the agreements. This case presents important questions concerning the appropriate antitrust analysis of these restrictions under § 1 of the Sherman Act, 26 Stat. 209, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 1, and the Court's decision in United States v. Arnold, Schwinn & Co., 388 U. S. 365 (1967). 
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I

Respondent GTE Sylvania Inc. (Sylvania) manufactures and sells television sets through its Home Entertainment Products Division. Prior to 1962, like most other television manufacturers, Sylvania sold its televisions to independent or company-owned distributors who, in turn, resold to a large and diverse group of retailers. Prompted by a decline in its market share to a relatively insignificant 1% to 2% of national television sales, [Footnote 1] Sylvania conducted an intensive reassessment of its marketing strategy, and in 1962 adopted the franchise plan challenged here. Sylvania phased out its wholesale distributors and began to sell its televisions directly to a smaller and more select group of franchised retailers. An acknowledged purpose of the change was to decrease the number of competing Sylvania retailers in the hope of attracting the more aggressive and competent retailers thought necessary to the improvement of the company's market position. [Footnote 2] To this end, Sylvania limited the number of franchises granted for any given area and required each franchisee to sell his Sylvania products only from the location or locations at which he was franchised. [Footnote 3] A franchise did not constitute an exclusive territory, and Sylvania retained sole discretion to increase the number of retailers in an area in light of the success or failure of existing retailers in developing their market. The revised marketing strategy appears to have been successful during the period at issue here, for, by 1965, Sylvania's share of national television sales had increased to approximately 5%, and the 
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company ranked as the Nation's eighth largest manufacturer of color television sets.

This suit is the result of the rupture of a franchiser-franchisee relationship that had previously prospered under the revised Sylvania plan. Dissatisfied with its sales in the city of San Francisco, [Footnote 4] Sylvania decided in the spring of 1965 to franchise Young Brothers, an established San Francisco retailer of televisions, as an additional San Francisco retailer. The proposed location of the new franchise was approximately a mile from a retail outlet operated by petitioner Continental T.V., Inc. (Continental), one of the most successful Sylvania franchisees. [Footnote 5] Continental protested that the location of the new franchise violated Sylvania's marketing policy, but Sylvania persisted in its plans. Continental then canceled a large Sylvania order and placed a large order with Phillips, one of Sylvania's competitors.

During this same period, Continental expressed a desire to open a store in Sacramento, Cal., a desire Sylvania attributed at least in part to Continental's displeasure over the Young Brothers decision. Sylvania believed that the Sacramento market was adequately served by the existing Sylvania retailers, and denied the request. [Footnote 6] In the face of this denial, Continental advised Sylvania in early September, 1965, that it was in the process of moving Sylvania merchandise from its San Jose, Cal., warehouse to a new retail location that it had leased in Sacramento. Two weeks later, allegedly for unrelated reasons, Sylvania's credit department reduced Continental's 
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credit line from $300,000 to $50,000. [Footnote 7] In response to the reduction in credit and the generally deteriorating relations with Sylvania, Continental withheld all payments owed to John P. Maguire & Co., Inc. (Maguire), the finance company that handled the credit arrangements between Sylvania and its retailers. Shortly thereafter, Sylvania terminated Continental's franchises, and Maguire filed this diversity action in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California seeking recovery of money owed and of secured merchandise held by Continental.

The antitrust issues before us originated in cross-claims brought by Continental against Sylvania and Maguire. Most important for our purposes was the claim that Sylvania had violated § 1 of the Sherman Act by entering into and enforcing franchise agreements that prohibited the sale of Sylvania products other than from specified locations. [Footnote 8] At the close of evidence in the jury trial of Continental's claims, Sylvania requested the District Court to instruct the jury that its location restriction was illegal only if it unreasonably restrained or suppressed competition. App. 5-6, 9-15. Relying on this Court's decision in United States v. Arnold, Schwinn & Co., supra, the District Court rejected the proffered instruction in favor of the following one:

"Therefore, if you find by a preponderance of the evidence that Sylvania entered into a contract, combination or conspiracy with one or more of its dealers pursuant to which Sylvania exercised dominion or control over the 
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products sold to the dealer, after having parted with title and risk to the products, you must find any effort thereafter to restrict outlets or store locations from which its dealers resold the merchandise which they had purchased from Sylvania to be a violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, regardless of the reasonableness of the location restrictions."

App. 492. In answers to special interrogatories, the jury found that Sylvania had engaged "in a contract, combination or conspiracy in restraint of trade in violation of the antitrust laws with respect to location restrictions alone," and assessed Continental's damages at $591,505, which was trebled pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 15 to produce an award of $1,774,515. App. 498, 501. [Footnote 9]

On appeal, the Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, sitting en banc, reversed by a divided vote. 537 F.2d 980 (1976). The court acknowledged that there is language in Schwinn that could be read to support the District Court's instruction, but concluded that Schwinn was distinguishable on several grounds. Contrasting the nature of the restrictions, their competitive impact, and the market shares of the franchisers in the two cases, the court concluded that Sylvania's location restriction had less potential for competitive harm than the restrictions invalidated in Schwinn, and thus should be judged under the "rule of reason," rather than the per se rule stated in Schwinn. The court found support for its 
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position in the policies of the Sherman Act and in the decisions of other federal courts involving nonprice vertical restrictions. [Footnote 10]

We granted Continental's petition for certiorari to resolve this important question of antitrust law. 429 U.S. 893 (1976). [Footnote 11]

II

A 
We turn first to Continental's contention that Sylvania's restriction on retail locations is a per se violation of § 1 of the Sherman Act as interpreted in Schwinn. The restrictions at issue in Schwinn were part of a three-tier distribution system comprising, in addition to Arnold, Schwinn & Co. (Schwinn), 22 intermediate distributors and a network of franchised retailers. Each distributor had a defined geographic area in which it had the exclusive right to supply franchised retailers. Sales to the public were made only through franchised retailers, who were authorized to sell Schwinn bicycles only from specified locations. In support of this limitation, Schwinn prohibited both distributors and retailers from selling Schwinn bicycles to nonfranchised retailers. At the retail level, therefore, Schwinn was able to control the number of retailers of 
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its bicycles in any given area according to its view of the needs of that market.

As of 1967 approximately 75% of Schwinn's total sales were made under the "Schwinn Plan." Acting essentially as a manufacturer's representative or sales agent, a distributor participating in this plan forwarded orders from retailers to the factory. Schwinn then shipped the ordered bicycles directly to the retailer, billed the retailer, bore the credit risk, and paid the distributor a commission on the sale. Under the Schwinn Plan, the distributor never had title to or possession of the bicycles. The remainder of the bicycles moved to the retailers through the hands of the distributors. For the most part, the distributors functioned as traditional wholesalers with respect to these sales, stocking an inventory of bicycles owned by them to supply retailers with emergency and "fill-in" requirements. A smaller part of the bicycles that were physically distributed by the distributors were covered by consignment and agency arrangements that had been developed to deal with particular problems of certain distributors. Distributors acquired title only to those bicycles that they purchased as wholesalers; retailers, of course, acquired title to all of the bicycles ordered by them.

In the District Court, the United States charged a continuing conspiracy by Schwinn and other alleged coconspirators to fix prices, allocate exclusive territories to distributors, and confine Schwinn bicycles to franchised retailers. Relying on United States v. Bausch & Lomb Co., 321 U. S. 707 (1944), the Government argued that the nonprice restrictions were per se illegal as part of a scheme for fixing the retail prices of Schwinn bicycles. The District Court rejected the price-fixing allegation because of a failure of proof and held that Schwinn's limitation of retail bicycle sales to franchised retailers was permissible under § 1. The court found a § 1 violation, however, in "a conspiracy to divide certain borderline or overlapping counties in the territories served by four Midwestern 
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cycle distributors." 237 F.Supp. 323, 342 (ND Ill.1965). The court described the violation as a "division of territory by agreement between the distributors . . . horizontal in nature," and held that Schwinn's participation did not change that basic characteristic. Ibid. The District Court limited its injunction to apply only to the territorial restrictions on the resale of bicycles purchased by the distributors in their roles as wholesalers. Ibid.
Schwinn came to this Court on appeal by the United States from the District Court's decision. Abandoning its per se theories, the Government argued that Schwinn's prohibition against distributors' and retailers' selling Schwinn bicycles to nonfranchised retailers was unreasonable under § 1, and that the District Court's injunction against exclusive distributor territories should extend to all such restrictions regardless of the form of the transaction. The Government did not challenge the District Court's decision on price-fixing, and Schwinn did not challenge the decision on exclusive distributor territories.

The Court acknowledged the Government's abandonment of its per se theories, and stated that the resolution of the case would require an examination of

"the specifics of the challenged practices and their impact upon the marketplace in order to make a judgment as to whether the restraint is or is not 'reasonable' in the special sense in which § 1 of the Sherman Act must be read for purposes of this type of inquiry."

388 U.S. at 388 U. S. 374. Despite this description of its task, the Court proceeded to articulate the following "bright line" per se rule of illegality for vertical restrictions:

"Under the Sherman Act, it is unreasonable without more for a manufacturer to seek to restrict and confine areas or persons with whom an article may be traded after the manufacturer has parted with dominion over it."

Id. at 388 U. S. 379. But the Court expressly stated that the rule of reason governs when

"the manufacturer retains title, dominion, and risk with 
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respect to the product and the position and function of the dealer in question are, in fact, indistinguishable from those of an agent or salesman of the manufacturer."

Id. at 388 U. S. 380.

Application of these principles to the facts of Schwinn produced sharply contrasting results depending upon the role played by the distributor in the distribution system. With respect to that portion of Schwinn's sales for which the distributors acted as ordinary wholesalers, buying and reselling Schwinn bicycles, the Court held that the territorial and customer restrictions challenged by the Government were per se illegal. But, with respect to that larger portion of Schwinn's sales in which the distributors functioned under the Schwinn Plan and under the less common consignment and agency arrangements, the Court held that the same restrictions should be judged under the rule of reason. The only retail restriction challenged by the Government prevented franchised retailers from supplying nonfranchised retailers. Id. at 388 U. S. 377. The Court apparently perceived no material distinction between the restrictions on distributors and retailers, for it held:

"The principle is, of course, equally applicable to sales to retailers, and the decree should similarly enjoin the making of any sales to retailers upon any condition, agreement or understanding limiting the retailer's freedom as to where and to whom it will resell the products."

Id. at 388 U. S. 378. Applying the rule of reason to the restrictions that were not imposed in conjunction with the sale of bicycles, the Court had little difficulty finding them all reasonable in light of the competitive situation in "the product market as a whole." Id. at 388 U. S. 382.

B 
In the present case, it is undisputed that title to the television sets passed from Sylvania to Continental. Thus, the Schwinn per se rule applies unless Sylvania's restriction on 
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locations falls outside Schwinn's prohibition against a manufacturer's attempting to restrict a "retailer's freedom as to where and to whom it will resell the products" Id. at 388 U. S. 378. As the Court of Appeals conceded, the language of Schwinn is clearly broad enough to apply to the present case. Unlike the Court of Appeals, however, we are unable to find a principled basis for distinguishing Schwinn from the case now before us.

Both Schwinn and Sylvania sought to reduce, but not to eliminate, competition among their respective retailers through the adoption of a franchise system. Although it was not one of the issues addressed by the District Court or presented on appeal by the Government, the Schwinn franchise plan included a location restriction similar to the one challenged here. These restrictions allowed Schwinn and Sylvania to regulate the amount of competition among their retailers by preventing a franchisee from selling franchised products from outlets other than the one covered by the franchise agreement. To exactly the same end, the Schwinn franchise plan included a companion restriction, apparently not found in the Sylvania plan, that prohibited franchised retailers from selling Schwinn products to nonfranchised retailers. In Schwinn, the Court expressly held that this restriction was impermissible under the broad principle stated there. In intent and competitive impact, the retail customer restriction in Schwinn is indistinguishable from the location restriction in the present case. In both cases, the restrictions limited the freedom of the retailer to dispose of the purchased products as he desired. The fact that one restriction was addressed to territory and the other to customers is irrelevant to functional antitrust analysis and, indeed, to the language and broad thrust of the opinion in Schwinn. [Footnote 12] As Mr. Chief Justice Hughes stated in 
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Appalachian Coals, Inc. v. United States, 288 U. S. 344, 288 U. S. 360, 377 (1933): "Realities must dominate the judgment. . . . The Anti-Trust Act aims at substance."

III

Sylvania argues that, if Schwinn cannot be distinguished, it should be reconsidered. Although Schwinn is supported by the principle of stare decisis, Illinois Brick Co. v. Illinois, 431 U. S. 720, 431 U. S. 736 (1977), we are convinced that the need for clarification of the law in this area justifies reconsideration. Schwinn itself was an abrupt and largely unexplained departure from White Motor Co. v. United States, 372 U. S. 253 (1983), where, only four years earlier, the Court had refused to endorse a per se rule for vertical restrictions. Since its announcement, Schwinn has been the subject of continuing controversy and confusion, both in the scholarly journals and in the federal courts. The great weight of scholarly opinion 
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has been critical o the decision, [Footnote 13] and a number of the federal courts confronted with analogous vertical restrictions have sought to limit its reach. [Footnote 14] In our view, the experience of the 
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past 10 years should be brought to bear on this subject of considerable commercial importance.

The traditional framework of analysis under § 1 of the Sherman Act is familiar, and does not require extended discussion. Section 1 prohibits "[e]very contract, combination . . or conspiracy, in restraint of trade or commerce." Since the early years of this century, a judicial gloss on this statutory language has established the "rule of reason" as the prevailing standard of analysis. Standard Oil Co. v. United States, 221 U. S. 1 (1911). Under this rule, the factfinder weighs all of the circumstances of a case in deciding whether a restrictive practice should be prohibited as imposing an unreasonable restraint on competition. [Footnote 15] Per se rules of illegality 
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are appropriate only when they relate to conduct that is manifestly anticompetitive. As the Court explained in Northern Pac. R. Co. v. United States, 356 U. S. 1, 356 U. S. 5 (1958),

"there are certain agreements or practices which, because of their pernicious effect on competition and lack of any redeeming virtue, are conclusively presumed to be unreasonable, and therefore illegal, without elaborate inquiry as to the precise harm they have caused or the business excuse for their use. [Footnote 16]"

In essence, the issue before us is whether Schwinn's per se rule can be justified under the demanding standards of Northern Pac. R. Co. The Court's refusal to endorse a per se rule in White Motor Co. was based on its uncertainty as to whether vertical restrictions satisfied those standards. Addressing this question for the first time, the Court stated:

"We need to know more than we do about the actual impact of these arrangements on competition to decide whether they have such a 'pernicious effect on competition and lack . . . any redeeming virtue' (Northern Pac. R. Co. v. United States, supra, p. 356 U. S. 5), and therefore should 

Page 433 U. S. 51

be classified as per se violations of the Sherman Act."

372 U.S. at 372 U. S. 263. Only four years later, the Court, in Schwinn, announced its sweeping per se rule without even a reference to Northern Pac. R. Co. and with no explanation of its sudden change in position. [Footnote 17] We turn now to consider Schwinn in light of Northern Pac. R. Co.
The market impact of vertical restrictions [Footnote 18] is complex because of their potential for a simultaneous reduction of intrabrand competition and stimulation of interbrand competition. [Footnote 19] 
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Significantly, the Court in Schwinn did not distinguish among the challenged restrictions on the basis of their individual potential for intrabrand harm or interbrand benefit. Restrictions that completely eliminated intrabrand competition among Schwinn distributors were analyzed no differently from those that merely moderated intrabrand competition among retailers. The pivotal factor was the passage of title: all restrictions were held to be per se illegal where title had passed, and all were evaluated and sustained under the rule of reason where it had not. The location restriction at issue here would be subject to the same pattern of analysis under Schwinn.
It appears that this distinction between sale and nonsale transactions resulted from the Court's effort to accommodate the perceived intrabrand harm and interbrand benefit of vertical restrictions. The per se rule for sale transactions reflected the view that vertical restrictions are "so obviously destructive" of intrabrand competition [Footnote 20] that their use would "open the door to exclusivity of outlets and limitation of territory 
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further than prudence permits." 388 U.S. at 388 U. S. 379-380. [Footnote 21] Conversely, the continued adherence to the traditional rule of reason for nonsale transactions reflected the view that the restrictions have too great potential for the promotion of interbrand competition to justify complete prohibition. [Footnote 22] 
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The Court's opinion provides no analytical support for these contrasting positions. Nor is there even an assertion in the opinion that the competitive impact of vertical restrictions is significantly affected by the form of the transaction. Nonsale transactions appear to be excluded from the per se rule, not because of a greater danger of intrabrand harm or a greater promise of interbrand benefit, but rather because of the Court's unexplained belief that a complete per se prohibition would be too "inflexibl[e]." Id. at 388 U. S. 379.

Vertical restrictions reduce intrabrand competition by limiting the number of sellers of a particular product competing for the business of a given group of buyers. Location restrictions have this effect because of practical constraints on the effective marketing area of retail outlets. Although intrabrand competition may be reduced, the ability of retailers to exploit the resulting market may be limited both by the ability of consumers to travel to other franchised locations and, perhaps more importantly, to purchase the competing products of other manufacturers. None of these key variables, however, is affected by the form of the transaction by which a manufacturer conveys his products to the retailers.

Vertical restrictions promote interbrand competition by allowing the manufacturer to achieve certain efficiencies in the distribution of his products. These "redeeming virtues" are implicit in every decision sustaining vertical restrictions under the rule of reason. Economists have identified a number 
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of ways in which manufacturers can use such restrictions to compete more effectively against other manufacturers. See, e.g., Preston, Restrictive Distribution Arrangements: Economic Analysis and Public Policy Standards, 30 Law & Contemp.Prob. 506, 511 (1965). [Footnote 23] For example, new manufacturers and manufacturers entering new markets can use the restrictions in order to induce competent and aggressive retailers to make the kind of investment of capital and labor that is often require in the distribution of products unknown to the consumer. Established manufacturers can use them to induce retailers to engage in promotional activities or to provide service and repair facilities necessary to the efficient marketing of their products. Service and repair are vital for many products, such as automobiles and major household appliances. The availability and quality of such services affect a manufacturer's goodwill and the competitiveness of his product. Because of market imperfections such as the so-called "free rider" effect, these services might not be provided by retailers in a purely competitive situation, despite the fact that each retailer's benefit would be greater if all provided the services than if none did. Posner, supra, n 13, at 285; cf. P. Samuelson, Economics 506-507 (10th ed.1976). 
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Economists also have argued that manufacturers have an economic interest in maintaining as much intrabrand competition as is consistent with the efficient distribution of their products. Bork, The Rule of Reason and the Per Se Concept: Price-Fixing and Market Division [II], 75 Yale L.J. 373, 403 (1966); Posner, supra, n 13, at 283, 287-288. [Footnote 24] Although the view that the manufacturer's interest necessarily corresponds with that of the public is not universally shared, even the leading critic of vertical restrictions concedes that Schwinn's distinction between sale and nonsale transactions is essentially unrelated to any relevant economic impact. Comanor, Vertical Territorial and Customer Restrictions: White Motor and Its Aftermath, 81 Harv.L.Rev. 1419, 1422 (168). [Footnote 25] Indeed, to the extent that the form of the transaction is related to interbrand benefits, the Court's distinction is inconsistent with its articulated concern for the ability of smaller firms to compete effectively with larger ones. Capital requirements and administrative expenses may prevent smaller firms from using the exception for nonsale transactions. See, e.g., Baker, supra, n 13, at 538; Phillips, Schwinn Rules and the "New Economics" of Vertical 
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Relation, 4 Antitrust L.J. 573, 576 (1975); Pollock, supra, n 13, at 610. [Footnote 26]

We conclude that the distinction drawn in Schwinn between sale and nonsale transactions is not sufficient to justify the application of a per se rule in one situation and a rule of reason in the other. The question remains whether the per se rule stated in Schwinn should be expanded to include nonsale transactions or abandoned in favor of a return to the rule of reason. We have found no persuasive support for expanding the per se rule. As noted above, the Schwinn Court recognized the undesirability of "prohibit[ing] all vertical restrictions of territory and all franchising. . . ." 388 U.S. at 388 U. S. 379-380. [Footnote 27] And even Continental does not urge us to hold that all such restrictions are per se illegal.

We revert to the standard articulated in Northern Pac. R. Co. and reiterated in White Motor for determining whether vertical restrictions must be

"conclusively presumed to be unreasonable, and therefore illegal, without elaborate inquiry as to the precise harm they have caused or the business excuse for their use."

356 U.S. at 356 U. S. 5. Such restrictions, in varying forms, are widely used in our free market economy. As indicated above, there is substantial scholarly and judicial authority 
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supporting their economic utility. There is relatively little authority to the contrary. [Footnote 28] Certainly there has been no showing in this case, either generally or with respect to Sylvania's agreements, that vertical restrictions have or are likely to have a "pernicious effect on competition," or that they "lack . . . any redeeming virtue." Ibid. [Footnote 29] Accordingly, we conclude that the per se rule stated in Schwinn must be overruled. [Footnote 30] In so holding, we do not foreclose the possibility that particular applications of vertical restrictions might justify per se prohibition under Northern Pac. R. Co. But we do make clear that departure from the rule of reason standard 
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must be based upon demonstrable economic effect, rather than -- as in Schwinn -- upon formalistic line drawing.

In sum, we conclude that the appropriate decision is to return to the rule of reason that governed vertical restrictions prior to Schwinn. When anticompetitive effects are shown to result from particular vertical restrictions, they can be adequately policed under the rule of reason, the standard traditionally applied for the majority of anticompetitive practices challenged under § 1 of the Act. Accordingly, the decision of the Court of Appeals is

Affirmed.
